


7 Meaning of Palimpsest

In early times a palimpsest was a parchment or other
material from which one or more writings had been
erased to give room for later records. But the era-
sures were not always complete; and so it became the
fascinating task of scholars not only to translate the
later records but also to reconstruct the original writ-
Ings by deciphering the dim fragments of letters partly
erased and partly covered by subsequent texts.

g The history of lowa may be likened to a palimpsest
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The Old Roads

“A Dbicycle trip through lowa Is a succession of
discomforts/ an lowan reported to fellow bicycle
enthusiasts in 1893; “in the Spring the mud ren-
ders such a trip impossible; In the Summer the
roads, having no foundation, become a perfect
sand-bar, through which the wheel slips in all di-
rections, giving the devoted rider many a fall,
while the wind whirls the dust about his devoted
head, filling his eyes, nose and ears, preventing
his opening his mouth to even call down blessings
on the man who made the roads.” Fall, he de-
clared, was the best season, “but woe be he who
wanders far from home, for the least rain ruins the
roads for a week, the soft dirt absorbing the mois-
ture readily and the wagons cutting ruts that make
cycling a torment."’

Poor roads were not confined to lowa. In 1868
the United States Commissioner of Agriculture
declared that good roads ‘“‘were the exception In
all the States." When the Office of Road Inquiry
took I1ts first road census in 1904 only a minute
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fraction of the nation's 2,150,000 miles of road
had hard surfaces, while just 7 per cent were
classified as “Improved.”” This term included
roads surfaced with stone, gravel, or even saw-
dust and oyster shells. The remainder were sim-
ply dirt roads. Dean Charles F. Curtiss of lowa
State College declared in 1903 that “America has
easily the best railway system in the world and at
the same time the most inferior public highway
system of all the leading and most progressive
nations."

lowa furnished a prime example of the magni-
tude of the road problem In the large and thinly
populated western states. In 1904 it had 102,448
miles of road, ranking third in the nation behind
Texas and Missouri. Of this mileage, 1,403 were
graveled, 241 were macadam or some other form
of stone road, and 20 were surfaced with other
materials. All told, only 1.62 per cent of the
state’s roads were improved, considerably less
than in Wisconsin, lllinois, and Minnesota.

lowa’s dirt roads earned It an unenviable repu-
tation as one of the worst “mud road" states, con-
firming the truth of the old adage, “the better the
soil, the poorer the roads."” In pioneer days such
roads as the famous “ridge roads' had been built
to conform to natural drainage patterns. Later,
when roads were laid out along section lines as an
accommodation to landowners, this advantage
was thrown away. “Even animals,” C. R. Allen,
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Ottumwa engineer, remarked In 1892, “display
more engineering skill in the trend of their trails or
paths, than we have in locating our roads.”
Actually, when dry and well cared for, the
lowa dirt road was an excellent highway. A
writer in the Chicago Tribune In 1916 declared
that only Georgia had natural roads as good as
lowa’s, while other outsiders compared the lowa
dirt roads with the best French roads. But no mat-
ter how good the roads in dry weather, in wet sea-
sons they became quagmires. In 1840 Judge
George G. Wright asked a stagecoach driver how
long It would take to reach lowa City, twelve
miles distant. “About five hours,” the driver re-
plied, “if we can find the bottom of the road.”
Over eighty years later, on November 12, 1922,
thousands of football fans left lowa City after see-
Ing lowa beat Minnesota In their homecoming
game. It had been a damp day, and It began to
rain harder after the game. In a short time there
was a traffic tieup on the roads out of lowa City
as automobiles which were not equipped with
chains became mired in the mud of some of lowa’s
best known highways. An estimated five hundred
cars stalled between North Liberty and Cedar
Rapids alone. Hundreds of motorists and their
families spent the night In their cars or at nearby
farm houses which they reached on foot. On Sun-
day, one farmer made $90 in two hours helping to
pull cars loose, while the coffers of many other
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farm homes were enriched. “Autos Stick In lowa
Muck; Gold Harvest in lowa/' headlined the Chi-
cago Tribune.

The consequences of such unreliable roads
were numerous. Most attention was given to the
economic losses which resulted. In 1899 the Of-
fice of Road Inquiry declared that to haul goods a
few miles to the railway station cost as much as it
did to transport the same goods thousands of miles
by rail. At the beginning of the twentieth century
most students conceded that the annual national
loss from poor roads was at least half a billion dol-
lars. As a good roads writer observed, “Poor
roads cost the country $1,500,000 every time the
sun goes down."’

Owners of vehicles constantly suffered losses
due to the damage inflicted on their machines by
road conditions. Especially affected in this respect
were transportation companies. The struggles of
nineteenth century stagecoach lines were matched
In the 1920's by the difficulties of the bus compa-
nies. In April, 1922, for example, two days after
the Red Ball Transportation Company opened the
first regular passenger line In lowa between
Charles City and Waverly, heavy rains washed
out bus service for five weeks.

Trucking pioneers faced similar handicaps. A
large caravan of army trucks on its way to Camp
Dodge, lowa, In April, 1918, was able on its best
day to make no more than 46 miles over lowa's
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roads. Even this distance was possible only by
traveling from 7 A.M. to 2 A.M. the following
morning, and by hooking together like a train so
that the trucks could push or pull their way
through the mud.

Efforts to advertise lowa’s economic advantages
were hampered by the unfavorable reputation of
Its roads. Industries hesitated to enter the state
when they might be unable to obtain necessary
materials over the roads for several weeks during
the year. In 1923 the Greater lowa Association
spent thousands of dollars on advertisements In
eastern papers pointing out the economic wealth
of the state. A Connecticut newspaper, perhaps
still smarting from lowa’s victory over Yale In
1922, retorted that in lowa football fans faced the
threat of spending Saturday night stuck In the
mud. “Who would live in that kind of state,” the
paper asked, “for all its agricultural wealth?”

Since the lowa farmer was the principal road
user, his losses were the greatest. lowa’s farms
were among the leading producers of the country,
but the farmer’s problem was to get those products
to market. An unknown poet observed:

The lowa farmer

Cannot haul to market
When the market is high;

He must haul to market
When the roads are dry.

In addition, muddy roads imposed virtually
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complete 1solation upon farm families, adding Im-
measurably to the burdens of an already hard life.
Rural school district consolidations, with all their
advantages, were difficult to achieve when It was
hard enough for school children to attend nearby
one-room schools. “The consolidated rural
school,” Governor George W. Clarke asserted In
1913, “will go halting and crippled until the per-
manent road passes the door.*

Rural churches also suffered. “People will not
risk a good car over Johnson county mud roads,*
the Rev. W. C. Keeler of lowa City reported In
1926, “and as a result the country churches of
Johnson county have been closed the greater part
of this winter.“

No argument was really required to convince
anyone of the importance of road Improvement
other than to cite the disadvantages of the old
roads and the obvious conveniences of having
highways that could be used every day In the
year. “It really seems absurd,” Anson Marston of
lowa State College maintained, “that in a state so
wealthy and prosperous as ours, so advanced as
regards the education and intelligence of the peo-
ple, the entire business of the agricultural commu-
nity, which In lowa Is the basis of practically all
business Interests, should be left to the mercy of
bad weather on account of roads which would be

a disgrace even to barbarism.*
George S. M ay



Good Roads Organizations

The good roads movement was part of the
general effort to obtain Improved transportation
facilities which, in the United States, dates from
colonial days. The toll road and canal building
booms of the early nineteenth century scarcely
reached lowa. The plank road fever of the 1840’s
and 1850’s, however, resulted In the laying of a
few score miles of plank in southeastern lowa be-
fore railroad development halted further work.

Until after the Civil War the railroad was more
a dream than a reality in lowa, but it effectively
guelled the desire for road Improvement. For
many years it was thought that railroads would
make ordinary roads largely unnecessary. Thus,
although there was grumbling about muddy roads,
little effort was expended to improve them.

At the end of the century, as the agrarian, rural
economy began to give way to one of an industrial,
urban character, a new interest in good roads de-
veloped In the United States. Railroads connected
the cities, but the growing urban centers, for com-
mercial purposes, required a more reliable means
of reaching the surrounding rural areas than the
existing roads provided. It was local commercial
groups, therefore, together with the bicycle and



72 THE PALIMPSES

later the automobile forces, that sparked the good
roads movement.

It would be difficult to say when the good roads
campaign began in lowa. A veteran good roads
booster declared in 1916: '"The fact is there isn’t
a man In the state of lowa who Is against good
roads, and if | can find one who thinks he is, I'll
convince him that he isn’t.” The question has
never been should lowa have good roads, but what
were the best roads which it was possible to have
at any particular time. The so-called good roads
advocates have tended to be the most pessimistic
In their appraisal of existing road conditions, and
the most optimistic in their estimates of the kind of
roads lowa Is capable of supporting.

As early as 1854 Governor Stephen Hempstead
gave official recognition to certain specific defects
In the road system. Governor Samuel Merrill re-
ported In 1872 that there was "much complaint”
regarding road conditions, and he felt there was
"much justice In the complaint.” Ten years later
Governor Buren R. Sherman, In his first inaugural
address, stated that it was '‘painfully evident"
that the state s roads needed Improving.

In the early 1880’s more emphasis began to be
placed on road building and less on railroads. The
average town which was seeking its second or
third rail connection "‘would be working far more
to Its own iInterest and profit,'" the Des Moines
lowa State Register believed, If It spent Its time
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and money to improve Its county roads. Railroads
were Important, the Cedar Rapids Republican
conceded, “but it should be remembered that the
majority of our people have much more extensive
business relations with the citizens of surrounding
townships than they have with Chicago, Council
Bluffs or Kansas City. Let us develop home mar-
kets as well as reach out for distant communities.*

On January 3, 1883, Samuel D. Pryce, lowa
City businessman and chairman of the lowa
City Board of Trade’s road committee, wrote a
letter to the lowa State Register. After vividly
portraying the state of lowa’s roads and summa-
rizing the numerous advantages to be gained
through their Improvement, Pryce exclaimed,
“Citizens of lowa, Inaugurate at once In every
school district In the State, the agitation of this
guestion. . . . Strike out boldly for public road
Improvement. The people of lowa cannot afford
to be longer handicapped by mud blockades and
bad roads.*

Pryce’s letter was reprinted throughout the
state and was Influential In arousing good roads
sentiment. The lowa State Register thought it
“probable that In no previous paper has so much
that 1s valuable and practical been given to the
lowa public on this subject” as was found In this
letter. Newspaper comment was so extensive that
the lowa City Republican declared that rarely was
“a public question so thoroughly discussed as the
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road question has been during the past month.
Hundreds of columns have been written on the
subject."

In February, 1883, the lowa City Board of
Trade Invited "the Boards of Trade, Boards of
Supervisors, City and Town Councils, Farmers’
Clubs and kindred organizations, to send dele-
gates to a State Road Convention, to assemble In
lowa City, March 1and 2."" Support for the con-
vention was expressed by many newspapers and
by such citizens as Governor Sherman, Coker F.
Clarkson, and Benjamin F. Gue.

The delegates assembled and organized the
State Road Improvement Association. John Scott
of Nevada, former lieutenant governor, was elect-
ed president, with Herbert S. Fairall, editor of the
lowa City Republican, as secretary. The object of
the group was "‘to awaken an interest in favor of
the improvement of the public highways, and to
secure such legislation as will give us a better sys-
tem of working the roads."

Sustained effort, however, has been lacking In
the lowa good roads movement. The Road Im
provement Association met once more, In 1884,
but seems to have passed out of sight thereafter,
Its members perhaps satisfied with the changes In
the road laws enacted in 1884. In the years that
followed at least six other groups were organized
devoted to the road problem. Once gains were
Il ade, however, the organizations folded up.
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In August, 1892, a second lowa Road Improve-
ment Assoclation was organized at Des Moines.
The founder of the group and its first president
was the editor of the Clinton Morning Ago, Ed-
ward H. Thayer, a nationally known good roads
leader. John H. Gear, Peter A. Dey, William
Larrabee, Henry Wallace, and John Scott were
other active participants in this Association which
unfortunately lasted but a short while.

Although a group sometimes called the State
Good Roads Association was formed in 1899, the
honor of being the first lowa Good Roads Assocl-
ation probably belongs to the organization created
at a convention In Des Moines in April, 1903,
called by Governor Albert B. Cummins. It was
almost an official organization, not only because of
the support of Cummins, but because Charles F.
Curtiss, one of the two original State Highway
Commissioners, was on Its executive committee,
while Thomas H. MacDonald, Commission engi-
neer, was secretary-treasurer in 1905-1906.

Like its predecessors, the Association was not a
lasting one. As a result, a second Good Roads
Assocliation was formed in March, 1910, at a
meeting called by Governor B. F. Carroll. Lafay-
ette Young was elected president, Dean W. G.
Raymond of the State University of lowa, first
vice-president, and Thomas H. MacDonald was
again chosen secretary-treasurer. This group
lasted apparently until 1913, when it quietly died.
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It I1s possible that the failure of the legislature to
adopt the Association’s plans for building and
financing surfaced roads contributed to Its down-
fall.

During the next decade the good roads move-
ment was guided by organizations most of which
had other Interests in addition to roads. The most
Important of these was the promotional group
known as the Greater lowa Association. Finally,
In June, 1923, the third Good Roads Association
arose and was at once hailed as “the leader of the
good roads movement in lowa." H. B. Allfree of
Newton was elected president, E. T. Meredith of
Des Moines, first vice-president, and Mrs. Henry
C. Taylor, president of the lowa Federation of
Women’s Clubs, second vice-president. A perma-
nent organization was created which, as it turned
out, deserved the name. Louis H. Cook, associate
editor of the lowa Homestead, acted as temporary
secretary until 1924 when Glenn C. Haynes, for-
mer state auditor, and a candidate for the Repub-
lican nomination for governor in 1924, assumed
the position. Believing that its appointed task of
seeing the state’s primary roads paved was com-
pleted, the group expired early in the 1930’s.

A permanent solution to the road problem
proved as elusive as ever, however, and thus the
fourth Good Roads Association, still in existence,
was formed at Marshalltown on November 10,
1948. When a permanent organization had been



GOOD ROADS ORGANIZATIONS 77

established, Claud Coykendall, for many years
the administrative engineer of the Highway Com-
mission, became executive secretary. In 1953 he
was succeeded by Gerald Bogan, a veteran news-
paperman, who was publicity director for the Re-
publican party of lowa from 1949 until assuming
his duties with the Good Roads Association.

At the end of 1954 the officers of the organiza-
tion, In addition to Bogan, included John W. Cov-
erdale of Waterloo, president, Archie Nelson of
Cherokee, vice-president, and H. W. Callison of
Winterset, secretary-treasurer. Through such de-
vices as a twenty-five minute color movie on
lowa’s roads, the sponsorship of essay contests,
talks before organizations of all types, printed pol-
Icy statements, and the tireless efforts of Its execus-
tive secretary the fourth Good Roads Association
has proved itself a worthy successor to the groups
which have preceded it.

In recent years conferences have been called by
the Association In an attempt to coordinate the ef-
forts of the many groups which In the past have
played important roles in the good roads move-
ment. Participants In these meetings have includ-
ed the Associated General Contractors, the
|_eague of Municipalities, the Petroleum Industries
Committee, the Press Association, the Rural Let-
ter Carriers Association, the Farm Bureau, and
the Motor Truck Association.

The good roads movement has never lacked
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support, therefore, but actual progress toward Its
goals has been slow. The Des Moines Register
and Leader noted In 1912 that the program of the
good roads convention that year was no different
from that of similar gatherings of the preceding
twenty-five years. Debate had been going on too
long, the paper declared. “The time has come to
act. . . . There Is nothing new to be said today
or tomorrow. Everything has been said many
times that Is worth saying/*

A major cause of delay was summed up by for-
mer Governor Samuel Kirkwood In a statement to
the Road Improvement Association in 1883. He
had worked for better roads for many years, he
declared, but the results were disheartening for
the roads remained bad. “The system Is an old
one,” he pointed out, “and you will find It harder
to change than you perhaps imagine it to be. It
will not be sufficient that you here lay down a sys-
tem that you think should take the place of the
existing system. You will find the legislators In
both branches slow to move and they must be
moved upon."

Not only has It been necessary to overcome the
conservative attachment for a road system some of
whose parts originated in the middle ages, but it
has also been necessary to obtain unity within the
ranks of the good roads forces. This has been no
easy task. Good roads conventions produce lively
debates, but frequently little agreement.
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Sharp disagreements have existed over particu-
lar points. Engineers have argued over the correct
width of the roadbed and other technical ques-
tions of bridge and road construction. Supporters
of the dirt road once disputed the claim of others
that road surfacing was necessary. Costly delays
have resulted from arguments respecting the rela-
tive merits of stone, gravel, brick, concrete, and
other types of surfacing. The most bitter fights of
all have been between the advocates and oppo-
nents of greater centralization of road authority,
and between the supporters of the pay-as-you-go
plan of road financing, and bond supporters.

Progress has been further slowed by conflicts
between the northern counties, blessed with a
plentiful supply of gravel and a level terrain, and
the southern counties, not so favored In this re-
spect, as to the proper method of distributing road
funds. The relative importance of the primary and
secondary roads has caused heated debate. Cer-
tain groups, such as bridge and road construction
companies, and producers of road materials, have
opposed changes Injurious to their interests.

The farm groups generally have offered the
strongest resistance to road improvements, al-
though numerous examples of farmers in the front
ranks of the good roads movement could be cited.
Farm opposition has resulted, in part, from a fear
that farmers would be saddled with most of the
expense involved In building good roads.
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This latter fear, William Steyh, noted Burling-
ton engineer, observed In 1895, was fanned by
“the utterances of some over zealous advocates of
expensive paved roads, which created a distrust,
nay, almost a panic among the farmers, who could
see nothing but mortgaged homesteads as the re-
sult of improved roads.” Until the 1920's this fear
was partly justified. Prior to 1919 farmers paid a
total of four mills in property taxes to support the
county roads, while residents of first class cities
contributed only half a mill. “A monument of In-
equity and unfairness,” was T. G. Harper’s de-
scription of this situation. Harper, president of the
Good Roads Association in 1905, contended that
the businessman told the farmer that he had goods
to sell, but If the farmer wanted to buy he would
have to build the roads over which he must drive.

More tact was needed on the part of good roads
advocates, Harvey Ingham declared, after wit-
nessing a farmers’ convention in 1893 resolve that
the existing roads were good enough. “We don’t
want any eastern bicycle fellers, or one-hoss law-
yers with patent leather boots, to tell us how to fix
the roads that we use,” one farmer asserted. Yet,
Ingham believed, the group “would probably have
confessed that some changes might have been
made for the better, and undoubtedly could be led
to make such changes by a judicious attack upon
the most conspicuous evils of the existing system.”

George S. M ay



Road Administration

Administrative reforms, which, it was hoped,
would result in more efficient road work, monopo-
lized the attention of the early good roads move-
ment. The chief object of the reforms was to
achieve a greater degree of centralized control of
the roads. After the federal government and pri-
vate turnpike companies ceased to exercise much
Influence upon road policy In the 1850’s the states
permitted the roads to fall entirely under the ad-
ministration of local governmental units. Not un-
til the end of the century did the states, led by
New Jersey In 1891, begin to assume a responsi-
bility for their highway systems.

In lowa In the early 1880’s the state govern-
ment exercised no administrative control over the
roads. County supervisors had the authority to
determine locations of new roads, to change the
course of existing roads, and, in certain instances,
to levy a county bridge tax. Township trustees
each spring determined, within prescribed limits,
how great a property tax was to be levied to sup-
port the township roads during the coming season,
and how much of this tax could be paid with labor
rather than with cash. In the fall they divided the
township into as many road districts “as they may

8l
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deem necessary for the public good.” Each dis-
trict, in turn, had a road supervisor who was elect-
ed annually before 1880, biennially thereafter.
The supervisor was the official actually in charge
of the roads since he spent the money and directed
the road work, which was performed by men
working out their road taxes.

There was some logic to this system In pioneer
days when virtually the only use made of the
roads was local In character, but as the state grew
and traffic steadily increased In volume doubts
arose as to the wisdom of permitting thousands of
separate road systems to exist with no unifying
standards. Most frequently denounced, perhaps,
was the wastefulness of the system. “It is not an
extravagant statement,” Governor William Larra-
bee asserted in 1890, “that the taxes collected for
the care of highways In lowa yield a smaller re-
turn proportionately than any other imposts. The
manner In which these taxes are used Is a reproach
to people ordinarily provident in private matters.”

Under the system of working out taxes “all able
bodied male residents” between the ages of twen-
ty-one and forty-five were required to perform
two days' road work between April and Septem-
ber in payment of the poll tax. In addition, de-
pending upon the trustees' decision, It was pos-
sible to receive credit for part of one's property
tax In the same manner.

The system was attacked primarily for its In-
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efficiency. In a corn state such as lowa the farm-
ers were needed In their fields during most of the
road working season. The result was that road
work was done In the late summer when the farmer
could best be spared, but when the least effective
work could be performed, or it was left to old men
and young boys, despite the legal age limits. This
was not the way to keep roads In first-class condi-
tion, William Steyh argued. Constant care was
required “by a force of men specifically trained
and employed for this purpose.*

To be sure, working out one’s road tax was a
source of diversion. John Scott declared that it
“left us many pleasant recollections of agreeable
gossip and invigorating rests under the shade of
neighboring trees and fences. To make this event
one of the greatest possible utility and enjoyment,
the old brown jug had its place In the fence comer,
to which was frequent resort.” The supervisor’s
authority, he said, “was more nominal than real.
Doubtless, he was often elevated by his followers
to this responsibility because of his capacity and
disposition to make the period ‘a good time.””

Chaotic as the entire system may appear, how-
ever, It had strong support at the time from those
who saw positive virtues in decentralized control.
Governor Cyrus C. Carpenter in 1874 even sug-
gested that the road districts be made completely
Independent of all township control. Such a step
would result Iin better roads, for, he believed, “if
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one enterprising district, for the honor of the
neighborhood, secures good roads, the adjoining
district Is stimulated to like enterprise.” A group
of Warren County farmers begged the legislature
In 1884 to ‘give heed to the call of human rights
and equal justice and the great principle of free
Government which will leave the road laws and
management as they now are in the hands of the
People and not under the control of a centralized
one man power and moneyed despotism.”

Progress toward correcting these defective ad-
ministrative methods was slow and gradual. In
1884, after Governors John H. Gear and Buren R.
Sherman and the State Road Improvement ASSo-
ciation had strongly urged changes in the road
laws, the first step toward greater centralization
of power was taken with the passage of “An Act
to Promote the Improvement of Highways.” This
law marks a turning point in lowa road history,
but it was hardly the “radical change” which Gov-
ernor Sherman declared was needed. The county
supervisors were authorized to levy a one-mill
county property tax to be paid only in cash. The
tax's proceeds would form a county road fund to
be spent “only on the order of the board of super-
visors for work done on the highways of the coun-
ty, In such places as the board shall determine.”
In addition, township trustees, on petition of a ma-
jority of the voters, could organize the township
Into one road district. Road taxes would then be
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paid In cash, and all road funds would be spent by
the trustees.

Virtually no townships chose to consolidate
their road districts. In 1894 the one-mill county
tax was made mandatory in all counties, but aside
from this change, road administration in 1900 re-
mained no different than it was prior to 1884.

As a result of increased pressure the Anderson
Act of 1902 made the adoption of the township
system and the payment of property taxes in cash
compulsory. Charles F. Curtiss termed this “the
most Important step that has yet been taken look-
Ing to the improvement of the public highways of
this state.” The old district system was partially
restored in 1909 but was abolished for good In
1913. Until 1929, however, it was still possible In
some townships for a man to work out his five-dol-
lar poll tax on the roads.

In 1913 the power of the county supervisors
was greatly increased with the establishment of
the county road system, which was to include “not
less than ten per cent nor more than fifteen per
cent” of the total road mileage In the county.
These were to be the “main traveled roads" link-
Ing the principal market places. Administration of
this system was placed In the county supervisors’
hands. They also received complete control over
all bridges and culverts in the county.

In 1921 the legislature provided that upon a ma-
jority vote of the people Iin any township its road
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work could be turned over entirely to the county
supervisors. It was obvious that the days of road
work on the township level were limited, and In
1929 the Bergman Act eliminated the township as
a road administration district as of January 1,
1930. All secondary roads came under control of
the county supervisors. By this step the number of
officials Iin charge of the state's secondary roads
was reduced from 5,500 to about 400.

The most important reform promoting efficient
and expert supervision of the roads on the county
level was undoubtedly the creation of the office of
county engineer. As early as 1883 Samuel D.
Pryce declared that road work should be “under
the supervision of a competent civil engineer.” In
1892, the legislative committee of the engineers'
soclety presented the General Assembly with a
bill establishing the office of county engineer.

No action was taken for many years, however.
The opposition’s reasoning was revealed In
March, 1910, when Governor B. F. Carroll asked
the Good Roads Association to support the estab-
lishment of a county engineer. The delegates de-
feated the proposal 315 to 168. One delegate
called it a plan for “giving places to a lot of boys
from college without accomplishing anything."
The 1dea that trained experts were needed to man-
age road work was an affront to many local road
officials. A Monroe County delegate contended
that “they did not have to go to college to get men
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capable of using the level/ Most of these men
would not think of erecting a large public building
without competent engineering advice, but they
stubbornly refused to regard highway construction
as presenting an analogous situation.

As a result of this opposition, good roads forces
were compelled to accept a compromise in 1911
whereby the supervisors could, iIf they desired, em-
ploy “a competent person” to draw up plans and
specifications for county road work. The general
shift In sentiment toward more advanced road ad-
ministrative methods finally resulted In the crea-
tion of the office of county engineer Iin 1913.

Much opposition remained. Senator A. L
Ames of Traer reported that '‘probably no part of
the [1913 road law had been] criticized more fre-
guently than that part relating to the work done
by the county highway engineer.” In 1923 the
critics succeeded In making the county engineer an
optional position. Few counties took advantage of
this act, however, and Iin 1929 the Bergman Act
not only repealed It, but also gave the county engi-
neer greater responsibility over the county’s road
work. By this time most supervisors had come to
recognize the engineer’s value as they saw him
save the county thousands of dollars. One county
board chairman declared that if the counties had
to choose between the engineer and the supervisor
“it would do well to give up the latter because the
engineer could do the work of the supervisors but
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the supervisors could not do the work of the engi-
neer/’

The most Important of all administrative re-
forms was the creation of the State Highway Com:-
mission. Samuel D. Pryce, In his prophetic letter
of 1883, foresaw the need for some form of state
road supervision when he called for the appoint-
ment by the governor of highway commissioners in
each county. A decade later, Seth Dean, Mills
County Surveyor, proposed the division of the
state Into road districts with boards in charge of
their roads. These boards, in turn, would be un-
der the general supervision of a five-man state
highway board appointed by the governor.

Finally, in 1904, the General Assembly, at the
suggestion of the Good Roads Association, con-
sidered setting up a state highway department at
lowa State College, where experimental road
work had been conducted for several years. Not
enough support could be obtained to establish a
separate agency with its own funds, but, through
the efforts of Representative F. F. Jones of Vil-
lisca, the college itself was directed to act as a
Highway Commission. The college was to serve
chiefly as an information center for road officials
of the state on any questions which they might
have regarding highway construction and mainte-
nance. Demonstrations in proper road working
methods were to be conducted at least once a year.

The board of trustees of lowa State College ap-



ROAD ADMINISTRATION 89

pointed Deans Charles F. Curtiss and Anson
Marston to serve as Commissioners, with Profes-
sor Thomas H. MacDonald as full-time assistant.
The Commission at first received only $3,500 a
year. This was later increased to $5,000 and then
in 1910 to $10,000. Despite such limited funds
the Commission managed to conduct an annual
road school for county and township road officers,
launch several Important investigations of road
conditions, and provide information and advice as
directed, although at times it was unable to buy
the postage stamps necessary to answer inquiries
sent to It. The Commission contended that If Its
powers and funds were increased it could correct
*the record of Incompetent and frequently fla-
grantly dishonest handling of contracts, special
bridge contracts, pools and agreements in restraint
of competition and the erection of flimsy and In-
efficient structures and disorganized methods of
work,” which existed In the state.

The exposure in 1912 of wasteful and even cor-
rupt expenditure of funds, particularly in Polk and
Clinton counties, forcing the resignation or re-
moval of several supervisors, aroused greater pub-
lic support for a stronger Highway Commission.

As a result, the Commission was reorganized In
1913 and its power increased. Despite some belief
that the Commission should be located in the state
capital, it was retained In Its existing offices at
Ames. The number of Commissioners was In-
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Increased to three. The Dean of Engineering at
lowa State College was automatically a member
of the Commission. The other two were appointed
by the governor. The Commission was granted
the power to remove county engineers for reasons
of incompetency. All plans for improvements of
county roads had to receive its approval before
work could begin. Finally, the Commission exer-
cised general supervision over all road work
through its power to investigate and to report to
the attorney general any delinquencies in the per-
formances of county or township road officials.
The office of Chief Engineer was created to
handle this Increased authority. Only four men
have held this office. Thomas H. MacDonald, the
first Chief Engineer, resigned in 1919 to become
director of the Bureau of Public Roads. Fred R
White, who had been an assistant engineer since
1910, was Chief Engineer from 1919 until 1952
when he was succeeded by Edward F. Koch.
Upon Koch’s resignation in 1954 John G. Butter
became the fourth Chief Engineer.
Anson Marston, as Dean of Engineering at
lowa State College, continued as Commissioner in
1913. The two appointive Commissioners were
James W. Holden of Scranton, Greene County
Supervisor, and former president of the Associa-
tion of County Supervisors, and H. C. Beard of
Mt. Ayr, a lawyer well known for his good roads
activities.
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Powerful opposition to the Highway Commis-
sion existed for a number of years. Although of-
ficial representatives of the county supervisors had
asked for many of the increased powers granted to
the Commission and although county and town-
ship officials retained the power to initiate all road
work, many of these officials objected to the Com-
MISSION’S NeW SUPErVISory POwers.

A Dbill sponsored by Representative James F.
Johnston of Lucas County in 1915 would have
abolished the Commission but was defeated In the
senate after the house approved by a vote of 64 to
43. A similar effort in 1917 by Johnston and
Speaker Milton B. Pitt of Harrison County failed
In the house after a series of 54 to 54 tie votes.
During the bitter fight Woodworth Clum of the
Greater lowa Association referred to Pitt and
Johnston as “political pirates who are endeavoring
to scuttle the ship of state.” Earlier, in 1915, the
Manchester Press called the anti-Commission
movement “an Insult to the intelligence and pro-
gressive spirit of lowa people. . . . After years
of blind road and bridge patching and tinkering,
lowa has for the first time an authorative body of
men who are proceeding along definite, sensible
and economical lines, and now It Is solemnly pro-
posed to drop back into the wallow and bog along
with a discarded and discredited system.”

The Highway Commission’s power was
strengthened when, In 1916, Congress enacted the
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Federal Aid Road Act appropriating $75,000,000
to be distributed among the states during the fol-
lowing five years as assistance in important road
building projects. This action almost restored the
federal government to the position with respect to
roads which it held early in the nineteenth century:.

The creation of the Office of Road Inquiry In
1893 was the start of this reassertion of power.
This agency, the forerunner of the modern Bureau
of Public Roads, served largely as an information
center until 1912 when Congress appropriated
$500,000 to be used to aid in the construction of
post roads and gave the office supervision over the
expenditure of these funds. The federal govern-
ment allotted each state $10,000 for the improve-
ment of a road over which Irural mail service had
been or might thereafter be carried/’ if the state
provided $20,000, and the plans for the road and
the finished work were approved by federal offi-
cials. lowa received $30,000 from this fund.

The much more ambitious act of 1916 required
the states to match federal aild with an equal
amount of money. In addition, each state had to
have a state highway department capable of han-
dling and overseeing the expenditure of the money.
Governor Harding called the aid “a form of lot-
tery.” Not to accept the money, however, would
be unjust to the taxpayers of lowa, so the Gov-
ernor asked the legislature ’to choose a course In
this respect which will not lend encouragement to
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this wasteful form of appropriation and expendi-
ture, while securing to ourselves some crumbs from
the feast we have been forced to spread.” The
General Assembly In 1917 accepted the proffered
ald, matching it with motor vehicle license fees.
At the same time, the Highway Commission was
directed to select a system of roads on which fed-
eral aid would be used. In 1919 this became the
primary road system under the provisions of the
primary road law which created a twofold divi-
sion of the state’s roads. The primary road system
comprised about 6,400 miles of road connecting
every city and town of more than 1,000 inhabitants
In the state, while the secondary road system was
made up of the 10,000 miles of the county road
system and the township roads, comprising about
87,000 miles. With regard to the primary roads,
although the counties Initiated and carried out all
construction work, the Commission now exercised
control over the purse strings as well as over con-
struction plans. A primary road fund was estab-
lished, composed of lowa's share of federal aid
and the proceeds from the motor vehicle license
tax. Counties did not receive the money, but sub-
mitted bills for approved projects, which, If passed
by the Commission, were then paid by the state.
To meet the demand for a more connected sys-
tem of Interstate highways, Congress in 1921
passed a new highway act which forced drastic
changes In lowa's road administration. The State
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Highway Commission was now required to have
complete control over both the construction and
maintenance of all federal aid roads before aid
would be granted. Single counties were no longer
to be permitted to block the establishment of con-
tinuous paved roads. The states were given five
years to comply with these requirements.

Both Governors Kendall and Hammill, together
with the Highway Commission and good roads or-
ganizations, urged the legislature to make the nec-
essary administrative changes In order that lowa
might not lose federal aid. Governor Hammill ad-
mitted that he was “not very enthusiastic about
federal aid,” yet to abandon It In this case “would
be a short-sighted policy.”“ Representative John P.
Gallagher of lowa County, however, called such
ald “unwise, dangerous, unpatriotic and openly
and offensively antagonistic to the spirit and ge-
nius of the American form of state government.*

In 1925 a compromise measure was adopted
whereby the minimum federal requirements were
met. A primary road development fund was estab-
lished, composed only of federal aid funds and the
exact equivalent in state funds, which the Commis-
sion was to use, on Its own initiative, for primary
road construction work. In addition, the Commis-
sion was given final authority in determining main-
tenance policies on primary roads.

Two years later this stopgap measure was re-
placed with a comprehensive administrative re-
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form. Senator J. O. Shaff of Camanche introduced
a bill transferring complete control of the entire
primary road system to the Highway Commission.
In order to secure its adoption, good roads forces
had to agree to changes in the Highway Commis-
sion. A five-man appointive Commission was cre-
ated, with the Dean of Engineering at lowa State
College no longer an ex officio member. This
terminated the long years of service of Anson
Marston, dating from 1904, and broken only by a
leave of absence for war duty in World War |I.
Prior to the enactment of the Shaff Act the pri-
mary road system, Governor Hammill later re-
called, had been like a car with two steering
wheels. ""The Highway Commission had hold of
one wheel and the county board of supervisors had
hold of the other. . .. Sometimes one of our chauf-
feurs was looking backward and the other looking
forward. We were unable to dodge the mud holes.
All we could do was puddle through." By 1929
the process of centralization begun In 1884 was
completed. Responsibility for road administration
had been removed from the hands of the many and
placed In the hands of a few who could more easily
be held accountable. Authority over the roads was
clearly defined between state and county with the
Highway Commission exercising general super-

vision over all the roads, and direct control over
the state's primary highways.

George S. M ay



Getting Out of the Mud

The automobile revolutionized road making. In
1905 only 799 motor vehicles were registered In
lowa. By 1915 the figure had leaped to 147,078
and In 1925 it had soared to 659,202. By the latter
year lowa had one car for every 3.6 persons In the
state, an average surpassed only by California.

Within a span of twenty years road officials
had to revise their thinking completely. As Fred
R. White pointed out, in 1900 the road maker
thought In terms of road traffic of 20 to 30 vehicles
per day traveling at no more than eight miles per
hour, whereas by 1920 he had to deal with 500 or
1,000 motor vehicles each day at speeds of 30
miles per hour. While a load of two tons was the
heaviest concelvable in 1900, trucks in 1920 could
haul loads of 10 to 14 tons. By 1920 the roads
were challenging the railroads as conveyors of
passengers and freight. Thus, roads which had
served the needs of lowans In 1900 were totally
Inadequate to meet the needs of 1920.

As automobile registrations increased so did the
demand for surfaced roads. Until 1910 macadam
and gravel were the principal types of surfaced
roads. Brick, first used in Burlington in 1887 and
widely employed thereafter as street paving, never
achieved the popularity for rural roads that it did



DIRT ROADS IN HORSE AND BUGGY DAYS
Buffalo Center, West Liberty, lowa City

Courtesy State Historical Society of lowa



You rolled along smoothly on dirt roads in fine weather — but you slid down side-
ways into the ditch when heavy rains transformed the road into a sea of mud.

Courtesy Autonohile Manufacturers Assoaation

Before the automobile supplanted the horse as the dominant form of road transpor-
tation, the law required approaching cars to stop while horsedrawn vehicles were
led safely past out of scaring’ distance.



Mud! Rich, thick, bottomless mud impeded progress in wet weather. Spring was the
worst season but storms in the summer or fall could transform a perfect road into a
quagmire overnight. The scene Is believed to be south of Ankeny on U.S. 69.

Courtesy Mchigan Historical Callections

Henry B. Joy. president of Packard Motor Company, leaving Tama on the Lincoln
Highway iIn May 1915. Automobiles, such as this one, were helpless without
chains on roads which a horse-and-buggy could readily negotiate.



U.S. 30 looking west toward the campus of lowa State University. Area IS what Is
locally known as the Squaw Creek Flats between Ames and the lowa State cam-
pus. A car is being pulled out of the mud but a wagon is passing by without difficulty.

The famous Lincoln Highway between Ames and Nevada in 1918. The driver of
the motor truck was not consoled by the knowledge that the road had a gravel
surface. Unless properly drained a gravel road is no improvement over a dirt
road. The Lincoln Highway was the most famous of the name roads that dotted
the state and the country before the adoption In the 1920’s of the system of num-
bering roads. The Lincoln Highway became U.S. Highway 30 and was entirely
paved by 1928.



Courtesy Sanili Gxx Rigler

The Arthur Cox family of lowa City slid into a muddy ditch with their car and had
to be pulled out by Old Dobbin.

Stuck — on an unidentified lowa mud road in those Good Old Days.”



SNOW COULD CAUSE MANY PROBLEMS

Main Street at Center Junction In 1908.

The old method of snow removal on lowa highways
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Laa M
j 71

Laying brick on the Des Moines-Camp Dodge road in 1917. Ralph Clover, in the
white shirt, could lay 500 feet of 20-foot paving in a day.

An early lowa concrete road, built west of Burlington in 1915. Actual paving
costs were $1.31 per square yard. Drainage was not neglected — note tile!



IOWA’S CHIEF ENGINEERS

T hos. H. MacDonald Fred R. W hite
1913-1919 1919-1952

Edward F. Koch John G. Butter L. M. Clauson
1952-1954 1954-1960 1960-



IOWA STATE HIGHWAY COMMISSION

The lowa State Highway Commission in 1954
Left to Right: Robert Keir, Spencer; John R. Hattery, Nevada; Chairman Sanford

Zeigler, Fairfield, and Mel Graham, Audubon. Not present; Frank R. Kerrigan,
Dubuque.

The lowa State Highway Commission in 1964
Left to Right: Everett L. Shockey, Council Bluffs; Robert C. Barry, Danbury; Harry
Jd Bradley, Jr., Des Moines; John Falb, Jr., Postville; Derby D. Thompson, Burlington.



lowa Highway Commission headquarters in Ames.

NewThighway maintenance garage on lowa 192 south of Council Bluffs.

Heavy equipment used in snowTand ice control during winter months.



IMPROVING DIRT ROADS

The King Road Drag, popularized in lowa after 1905 by D. Ward King of Mis-

souri. It is an "improved" model. King preferred to use split logs, rather than the
planks used in the drag shown above.

When dragged over a dirt road after a rain, the road drag produced a remarkably
smooth surface. Horses were used first, but by the early 1920 maintenance crews,
such as this one Iin Union County, were equipped with trucks.



ROAD BUILDING: YESTERDAY AND TODAY

Road building tools and methods were still in a primitive stage of development in
1915, as indicated by these workmen on the Dubuque-Dyersville gravel road con-
struction project. This was lowa’s second road to receive federal aid.

The multitude of equipment used to pave a section of Highway 6 west of lowa
City in 1951 provides a vivid example of the complexities of modern road work.



Early paving machines were steam-powered (note the wheelbarrow of coal) and
could lay about 600 feet of S-inch thick, 18-foot wide pavement in a 10-hour day.

U.S. Highway 30 after its relocation to the north edge of Jefferson. Relief routes
which touch the edge of a city rather than its main street are becoming more accepted
by the people of lowa.



Interstate 29 paralleling the Missouri River at the south edge of Sioux City shows
that city's urban connection to the lowa Interstate system.

D ip T rAiNisd

1

Acerial view showing a typical grade separation on Interstate 80 between Grinnell and
lowa City.



Under construction in 1963 and 1964 (completed by 1965), is this interchange Dbe-
tween U.S. 69 and relocated U.S. 30 at the south edge of Ames.

The $57 million Des Moines Freeway is part of the lowa Interstate system. It will
not only provide a connecting link through Des Moines to the Interstate routes skirt-
Ing the city, but will also relieve heavy congesting traffic on local streets.



This 1s a primary municipal extension at the north edge of Ottumwa on U.S. 63. This
four-lane, divided thoroughfare, provides an attractive entrance to the city and re-
places an old two-lane road.

Courtesy lowa Good Roeds Assodation
A powerful force In encouraging the construction of good highways is the lowa Good
Roads Association — R. M. Dick Hileman, executive secretary. The above shows
a meeting of the Association with other interested groups in Des Moines.
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IN many eastern states. Various forms of asphalt
pavement, however, first used in lowa by Des
Moines, Cedar Rapids, and Marion in 1901, have
been used on a large scale on rural highways.

The difficulty with macadam and gravel roads
was In obtaining materials. If macadam roads
were the only answer to lowa’s road problem, one
observer declared in 1893, “there Is a large part of
lowa which can hope for no improvement for
many years to come.” Outside of a few areas In
eastern lowa where stone was more plentiful, the
macadam road was not a factor in pulling the state
out of the mud. The discussions of early lowa
good roads enthusiasts, however, indicated that
macadam was considered the ideal surfaced road.

The automobile quickly changed that opinion.
Before the advent of the motor vehicle the stone
dust which served as the binder for the stones In
the macadam road was ground in by the steel tires
of the horse-drawn vehicles. The automobile,
however, Anson Marston explained, “sucks out
the binder and loosens the stones, and . . . tears
the road to pieces rather than bind it together.”
lowa, In fact, was fortunate that it could not build
many miles of macadam road, as New York did,
only to find It necessary to spend prohibitive
amounts of money to maintain them under the
pounding of motor traffic.

lowa’s gravel supply was better than its stone.
Northern and eastern lowa were blessed with
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more gravel than the rest of the state, but by 1928
only seven counties had been found to have no
source of gravel at all, although the supply In
eleven others was nearing exhaustion by that date.
lowa’s gravel, however, tended to be inferior to
that of some other states, lacking the natural bind-
er which made New Jersey’s gravel roads famous.
Nevertheless, around World War | many felt that
gravel offered the best solution to lowa’s road
problems. Gravel has proved practicable for sur-
facing side roads, but on main highways heavy
maintenance costs have ruled out its use in favor
of concrete, which has become the preferred type
of surfacing.

The use of concrete pavement on a large scale
IS relatively recent. The nation’s first such pave-
ment was laid In Bellefontaine, Ohio, In 1893-
1894. Not until 1904, however, did concrete pav-
Ing begin to achieve any degree of acceptance.
Its popularity soon grew with amazing rapidity.
Where there were only 364,000 square yards of
concrete pavement In the entire country in 1909,
by 1914 the figure had Increased to an estimated
19,200,000 square yards.

A half block paved at Le Mars in 1904 seems to
have constituted the earliest use of concrete paving
In lowa. Not until 1909, when 6,000 square yards
were laid In Mason City and Davenport, was any
substantial quantity built. By 1912, concrete,
which only three years before had ranked at the
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bottom of the list, was far and away the most pop-
ular paving material in lowa with a total of 316,-
279 square yards laid during the year.

The first rural concrete pavement was built In
1911 near Eddyville on a quarter mile stretch of
deep sandy road which had long been a bottleneck
for farmers. Businessmen of Eddyville contrib-
uted several hundred dollars to the project, farm-
ers supplied the labor, and the Mahaska County
Supervisors donated $500 worth of cement. A
roadway fourteen feet In width was laid under
plans drawn up by the State Highway Commis-
sion. At the prevailing rates the road cost $1.02
per square yard, about a third of what a similar
paving job would cost at the present time. Forty
years later this road was still in usable condition.

A mile of concrete was laid west of Mason City
In 1913. By 1915 it extended into Mason City,
and In 1917-1918 the eleven miles from Mason
City to Clear Lake were completed, constituting
lowa’s first interurban concrete highway. A dedi-
cation ceremony was held, with speeches at Mason
City, followed by a parade to Clear Lake. At the
halfway point a few shovelfuls of dirt were re-
moved from the pavement, symbolizing the end of
dirt road connections between the two towns.

The chief importance of the early paved roads,
once their ability to withstand use was proved,
was to stimulate a desire for more such pavement.
In 1918 Linn County built a “seedling mile” of
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pavement on the Lincoln Highway six miles east
of Cedar Rapids, and the same distance southeast
of Marion and northwest of Mount Vernon. This
location was chosen because 1t was felt that it
would be easier to obtain money to pave the road
Into one of the towns. The “seedling’s” limited
practical value was demonstrated when, in De-
cember, 1918, J. W. Eichinger, editor of the High-
way Commission’s Service Bulletin, asked County
Engineer R. W. Gearhart if they could drive over
and take some pictures. “Drive!” the engineer re-
plied. “Man! We’d have a time getting through
the mud with a team. We couldn’t possibly get to
the pavement with a car.”

Once the practicability of concrete roads had
been tested the question of their expense became
the important one. By the 1920’s the cost of the
average concrete pavement built In lowa was
around $30,000 per mile, a figure which has since
risen to $100,000. Bankruptcy, many asserted,
would be the only result of an attempt to pave
many miles of lowa’s roads.

Advocates of concrete paving were able to cite
the maintenance costs of concrete which were low-
er than any other type of road and eventually
would make paved roads the least expensive.
Tests conducted by the Highway Commission,
lowa State College, and other engineering groups
during the 1920’s showed that It cost an average
of 2.6 cents less per mile to operate a motor vehicle
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on a paved road than on a dirt road. Other tests
showed that tires wore out five times faster on
gravel than on concrete. Such figures indicated,
the Commission contended, 'that vehicle oper-
ating expenditures by private individuals and not
road-building costs paid from public funds are the
big item of expense In lowa’s annual transporta-
tion bill.” The savings In operating expenses
gained from paving the more heavily traveled
highways would be sufficient to pay the cost of
that paving within a few short years, even If one
disregarded the other savings such roads would
bring. In short, good roads enthusiasts argued,
lowa couldn’t afford not to build hard roads.

In addition to enormously stimulating the de-
mand for surfaced roads, the automobile also pro-
vided a means of financing those roads. Before
the automobile the only practical means of provid-
Ing the money for the expensive macadam road
Improvements advocated by many good roads
leaders was through increased taxes on the prop-
erty abutting the road.

In the pre-automobile era there was some justi-
fication for treating road improvements as a matter
of interest chiefly to the local residents. But with
the coming of the automobile, Governor Hammill
observed In 1925, a road was no longer '‘a neigh-
borhood or town road, but a county, a city, a state,
a national highway, used by everybody from ev-
erywhere. Linder these changed conditions it IS
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simply common sense and common fairness to say
that the people who use the roads and get most of
the benefits from them, the motor vehicle owners,
should pay a share of the cost.” Through the
automobile license fee and the gas tax the automo-
bile provided two reasonably painless means of
financing road improvements. By 1927 the last of
the special property taxes assessed to help pay for
primary road improvements was repealed.

The motor vehicle license tax was introduced In
1904 when a one-dollar registration fee was re-
qguired for each vehicle. Later, in 1911, the Kulp
bill increased the fee to fifteen dollars, and pro-
vided that 85 per cent of the proceeds would be
distributed to the counties who were to use it for
Improving rural roads. In 1917, however, the ne-
cessity of matching federal highway funds com:-
pelled the legislature to order that an amount equal
to lowa’s annual share of those funds be taken out
of the motor vehicle license revenues.

In 1919 the licensing regulations were revised
to make the fees correspond more closely to the
price and weight of vehicles. The owner of a
$6,400 Pierce-Arrow now paid a fee of $82.40,
while the owner of a $525 Ford paid only $12.
This revised tax was expected to yield as much as
six million dollars a year, and Highway Commis-
sion officials hopefully declared that this would
pay for most of the hard-surfaced roads Iin the
state In the coming years. Actually, by 1921 the
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motor vehicle license revenue had risen to $7,719,-
127, a sum which contrasted remarkably with the
$65,608 raised In 1910, yet was less than a third
of the total income from road taxes. The remain-
Ing two-thirds was supplied chiefly by county and
township property taxes.

In its annual report for 1922 the State Highway
Commission recommended that a tax be levied on
gasoline for highway construction and mainte-
nance purposes. Eighteen states at this time had
such a tax with ten placing the money In a general
state road fund. The legislature in 1923 author-
1zed a two-cent tax on every gallon of gasoline or
other petroleum products suitable for generating
power, with the exception of kerosene. At the
same time county and township road taxes were 1o
be abolished. Governor Nate Kendall vetoed the
measure, calling the levy a "plain and palpable
sales tax.” Despite the ending of other road taxes,
he felt a gas tax was too great a burden for the
people of the state to bear. The bill's most serious
defect, however, was that it made no provision for
exempting those who used gasoline for heating
purposes or for generating light and power.

Kendall’s successor, John Hammill, and the
Good Roads Association renewed the fight for a
gas tax in 1925. "‘Under the present law,' the lat-
ter group argued, "‘the man who drives ten thou-
sand miles per year, pays no more into the road
funds than the man who drives a similar vehicle
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5,000 miles per year, yet he gets twice the service
and does twice the damage to the roads.” Fur-
thermore, the gas tax was the only way in which
the Increasingly numerous out-of-state motorists
could be made to pay for the use of lowa’s roads.
The legislature again passed a two-cent gas tax,
but provided refunds on all gasoline used for pur-
poses other than moving vehicles on the roads.
Governor Hammill had requested a three-cent tax,
half of which would go into the primary road fund
and half for secondary roads. The legislature,
however, divided its two-cent tax equally among
the primary, county, and township roads. Two
years later the General Assembly increased the
tax to three cents, the additional cent going entire-
ly into the primary road fund.

Total receipts In the primary road fund during
1928 were $14,604,521. By itself, this sum could
not build paved roads at the rate desired by the
majority of the people in the state. This raised a
fundamental question: should lowa’s roads be
built only as fast as the revenue permitted, or
should construction be accelerated with bonds.

As early as 1894 Governor Frank D. Jackson
advocated the pay-as-you-go plan of road con-
struction. “The burden of expense Iin a single year
ought not and need not be a heavy one,” he de-
clared. “Each succeeding generation of people, at
no burdensome expense to themselves, can leave to
their successors a few miles of permanent roads as
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a Just and proper legacy/' The opponents of this
plan have always contended that it i1s much too
slow and costly because of the economic losses In-
flicted by poor roads.

In the 1880’s and 1890°s Edward H. Thayer
and Samuel D. Pryce favored road bonds as the
best method of building surfaced roads. “To do
this/’ Thayer admitted, ““a great many people will
have to conquer their prejudices and listen to a
Kind of reason and argument that they turn from
now with a solemn shake of the head and the ex-
clamation ‘no bonds If you please, and no debt for
road building/ ” But why not? Thayer inquired.
Business firms and farmers were continually bor-
rowing money to make needed Improvements,
while bonds had been issued to finance public
works. “Debt has made America what It is,”
Thayer argued. “The business of civilization Is
transacted on the credit system/"

The theory behind road bonds Is that by antici-
pating income and building good roads quickly
with the funds obtained from the sale of bonds the
saving In decreased maintenance costs plus the
economic benefits which improved roads will be-
stow upon those who use them will be more than
sufficient to pay the principal and interest on the
loan. Improved roads, it Is further contended, will
benefit future generations, as well as the present,
and thus both should pay their share of the cost.

As most states began adopting road bond plans
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the demand for similar action grew in lowa. In
1912 the Good Roads Association recommended
"that our coming legislature test the sentiment of
our people by submitting at the next general elec-
tion the question of issuing bonds for road Im-
provements.”” Until the mid-1920’s most of the
discussion centered around permitting the counties
to sell bonds, although a $25,000,000 state bond
Issue had been' strongly advocated by Harvey
Ingham In the columns of the Des Moines Regis-
ter and Leader In 1912,

In 1914 the Republican party gave guarded
support to bonds when its platform recommended
"that our road laws should be so further amended
as to permit the several counties to finance public
road improvements In a similar way as court,
school houses and other public works are fi-
nanced."” The following year Governor George
W. Clarke, noting the support which had arisen
for road bonds, expressed his approval and rec-
ommended legislative action. In addition, he ap-
pointed a commission, headed by D. W. Norris,
Jr., Marshalltown editor, to prepare recommenda-
tions as to the legislation needed to build perma-
nent roads. Early in 1916 the commission reported
that it favored ''the issuance of county bonds . . .
so as to build a road that will not wash away at
every rain."" It believed that "‘the people of lowa
can be trusted, at least with their own money."’

Road bonds were a major iIssue Iin the heated
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political campaign of 1916. E. T. Meredith, who
had been a member of Clarke's special commission,
was the Democratic candidate for governor and
received the support of such normally Republican
papers as the Des Moines Register partly because
of his support of road bonds. On the other hand,
William L. Harding, the Republican nominee, was
widely referred to as the “mud roads” candidate
because of his failure to support bonds. The bond
forces were led by the Greater lowa Association
together with such groups as the Greater Des
Moines Committee and the lowa Bankers Associ-
ation. Opponents asserted that most members of
these “self-appointed committees and associations
* . . do not pay any road tax, and that the burden
of paying for these bonds will be placed upon the
farmers of lowa.” Harding declared that the
voters were asked to approve “long-time indebted-
ness . . . for extensive work In experimental
road building.”

Actually, bond supporters contended, all they
desired was that the voters In each county be per-
mitted to express their opinion on whether they
should adopt a method successfully used else-
where to build roads. “Is there anybody any-
where that has not been benefited or who has not
profited by the anticipation of revenues by the
great business enterprises of the country?” Gov-
ernor Clarke asked. “Why fear to apply the prin-
ciple here, applied everywhere else? ... If there
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IS nothing compulsory about it what can be the
objection?”

According to Harding, however, his victory
meant that “the voice of the people” had spoken In
“no uncertain tone” against the issuance of bonds,
“and for making our road Improvements out of
funds previously raised by normal taxation, and In
such manner and to such extent as should be deter-
mined by those who must furnish the money to pay
for them.”

The sale of millions of dollars of Liberty bonds
In the state during World War | changed the
minds of many people, who agreed with the Reuv.
A. H. Cooke of Des Moines that “it ought to be as
easy to Issue bonds for good roads as It was for
war.” At a conference in January, 1919, called by
the Greater lowa Association in Des Moines, rep-
resentatives of the Farm Bureau Federation, Fed-
eration of Women’s Clubs, Bankers Association,
Manufacturers Association, League of Commer-
cial Clubs, organized labor, Ministerial Associa-
tion, Retail Clothiers Association, United Com-
mercial Travelers, and other groups supported
county road bonds. As a result, the primary road
law authorized counties to Issue bonds to speed
the construction of hard-surfaced primary roads.
The principal would be paid out of the county’s
share of the primary road fund, the interest by a
special county property tax.

The legislation of 1919 marked the beginning of
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the great construction program to get lowa's main
highways out of the mud. Fred R. White called it
“the biggest engineering undertaking this country
has attempted for some time.” From 1913 to 1919
lowa had made greater progress than probably
any other state In the construction of permanent
concrete bridges and culverts. In addition, al-
though lowa was far behind its neighbors in the
amount of paving laid, the work of building the
roads to permanent grade, which the Highway
Commission insisted must precede any surfacing,
advanced at a much greater pace. Thomas H.
MacDonald declared in 1917 that lowa may be
behind just yet In surfacing but when she starts,
she will be In shape to make exceptional strides.”

During the first half of the 1920's the number of
ungraded miles of primary road was reduced from
nearly 5,000 in 1919 to less than 1,500 by 1926.
The increase in paved mileage, however, was dis-
appointing. From a start of 25 miles of pavement
In 1919 only about a tenth of the primary road
system had been paved by 1926. In 1919 and
1920 the delay was attributable to shortages of
material and manpower as a result of unsettled
post-war economic conditions. After that the dif-
ficulty was a shortage of money:.

The county bonding plan of 1919 failed to pro-
duce the funds anticipated. After an initial burst
of activity In 1919 stirred up by Joe L. Long of
the Greater lowa Association, which saw thirteen
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counties authorize a total of $18,475,000 in bond
Issues, no counties voted In favor of bonds until
1926. By 1925 primary road funds had dropped
to a point where construction would have to be cut
by two-thirds unless additional funds were pro-
vided. If this was not done, Governor Hammill
declared, ''‘few men now past their majority will
live to see a connected system of highways cover-
Ing this state."" Furthermore, most of the work
which had been accomplished was not spread
evenly over the state. By 1926, one-fourth of the
counties, In the northern part of lowa where condi-
tions were most favorable, had surfaced all their
primary roads, but in 60 per cent of the counties
no surfacing had been accomplished.

Several actions were taken to meet this situa-
tion. The two-cent gas tax was introduced, but
the one-third allotted to the primary road fund
amounted to only $1,575,000 in 1926. The High-
way Commission in 1926 announced a three-year
stopgap program to provide gravel surfaces for
2,700 miles of the primary road system. Although
It admitted that later much of the mileage would
have to be re-surfaced with concrete Its program
was a means of getting lowa out of the mud as
soon as possible.

In addition, there was renewed bond activity.
With Johnson County setting the example, vigor-
ous campaigns by local good roads groups resulted
In twelve counties voting In favor of bond issues
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MARCH 16

You are now paying In auto license fees and
gas tax enough to get paved roads;, but are still
pulling through mud.

Other Counties In The State

are getting about 20% of your money to Improve
their roads. Here Is a plan to beat them to It

VOIE YES

MARCH 16

A million dollar bond issue will enable you to anticipate
your license fees and gas tax over a period of 19 years and in
the meantime you can

RIDE ON A PAVED PRIMARY ROAD
Enjoy Life While You Live.

Courtesy W. J. Smith

A tpost_er which helped sell W%Fe_llo County on the desirability of
authorizing primary road bonds in 1926.
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during 1926. In 1927, the Shaff Act, by assuring

counties that all obligations arising from primary
road bond issues would be paid out of the primary
road fund, greatly encouraged further bond issues.
As a result, 33 counties authorized bonds during
1927, bringing the total amount approved since
1919 to $63,685,657.

Meanwhile, support for a state bond issue had
grown. Groups like the Good Roads Association
argued that road development with county bond
Issues resulted In disorganized, patchwork con-
struction. A few counties that refused to approve
road bonds could block the completion of hard-
surfaced roads across the state or between impor-
tant cities. Only through a state bond issue could
a state-wide network of connected modem high-
ways be achieved. Even after the Shaff Act gave
the Highway Commission authority to use the pri-
mary road fund wherever it wished, the Commis-
sion felt obligated to use funds from primary road
bonds In the counties which had voted for them.

By 1928 the demand for a state bond issue was
so great that Governor Hammill called a special
session of the legislature in March. Although he
had earlier expressed disapproval of state road
bonds, he now strongly supported them. The leg-
Islature submitted to the voters In the general elec-
tion of November, 1928, a $100,000,000 state
bond proposal. No more county bonds would be
sold, and those already issued would be called In
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and replaced by 20-year state bonds. Since no
more than $100,000,000 in bonds could be out-
standing at any time, this meant, the proponents of
the plan declared, that the state's bonded indebt-
edness would be increased only about $34,000,000
after the county bonds had been absorbed. The
bonds were to be redeemed from the motor vehicle
license fees and the gas tax, which, at the 1928
levels, would provide ample funds to pay for the
debt and maintenance of the completed system.

With the money from the state bond issue the
primary road system would consist of nearly 5,000
miles of pavement and 1,700 of gravel by 1934,
ten years sooner, it was contended, than with
county bonds. The Farm Bureau Federation ob-
jected that “the state will have to pay as interest

. . the staggering total of $66,000,000 for which
It receives nothing except that the completion of
the program is advanced eight or ten years.” John
F. D. Aue, president of the Good Roads Associ-
ation, retorted that this was precisely the point of
the bond issue. By speeding up the completion of
the primary road system, Aue maintained, reduced
operating expenses on paved roads would save
drivers of motor vehicles $14,000,000 more than
the interest on the bonds.

The bond proposal was approved by a 2 to 1
majority In November, 1928, but the following
March it was declared unconstitutional. The leg-
Islature had provided that the bond act would not
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be operative until tested In the courts. The lowa
Supreme Court ruled that the provision that the
last bond would not be retired until 26 years after
the first had been issued violated the constitutional
requirement that state debts must be retired within
20 years. Furthermore, the attempt to pledge li-
cense fees and the gas tax during the life of the
bonds was Ineffective since ‘the constitution con-
fers upon the legislature no mortgaging power
over future resources, other than the proceeds of a
direct tax.”

The decision did not prove to be as serious a set-
back to the primary road program as was at first
feared. An attempt was made to amend the consti-
tution to make state bonds possible, but, In addi-
tion, the legal limit of a county’s bonded Iindebted-
ness was raised. This stimulated 18 counties
which had already issued bonds to vote additional
bonds totaling $12,200,000 during 1929, while 18
others voted new issues totaling $21,080,000.
Thus, over $33,000,000 was authorized in 1929,
which was virtually what the state could have
raised had It been permitted to go ahead with Its
bonding plans. Eventually every county except
Louisa voted for bonds, with a total of $118,186,-
000 being obtained by this means from 1919 to the
end of the 1930's. By November 1, 1950, all
bonds had been retired.

The increased funds made available after 1926
guickly accelerated the paving of primary roads.
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In both 1928 and 1929 approximately 700 miles of
pavement were laid, more than had existed In the
entire system In 1926. The year 1930, however,
was the peak year of construction In the entire his-
tory of lowa’s roads. A thousand miles of con-
crete were laid, with primary road construction
costs for the year reaching $42,600,000. For the
first time It became possible to travel from Des
Moines to all ninety-nine county seats on surfaced
roads. Whereas three years earlier only three
roads across the state had been completely sur-
faced, by the end of 1930 seven east-west and two
north-south surfaced highways spanned the state.
The exhaustion of the road bond funds and
the effects of the depression forced a sharp reduc-
tion In work on the primary roads following 1931.
Despite this, by 1934 the state was within 690
miles of the goal set by the defunct state bond pro-
gram. An additional 324 miles had been black-
topped, a method of surfacing cheap to lay but ex-
pensive to maintain, first introduced In 1932. In
large, bold type the Highway Commission proudly
declared on its 1931 primary road map: “Motor-
Ist, Get This, Once for All — IOWA IS NO
LONGER A MUD ROAD STATE!”

George S. M ay



Post-War Road Problems

The many miles of concrete paving laid by 1932
did not, as many seemed to think, solve lowa's
road problem. Since that time road officials have
sought to prevent the primary roads from becom-
Ing obsolete, while, at the same time, providing
more adequate secondary roads.

The depression of the thirties sharply reduced
road receipts. The primary road fund’s income
dropped from $18,116,000 in 1931 to $14,514,000
In 1934. After bank closures in 1933 tied up over
half the available funds, no primary road contracts
of any magnitude could have been let that year
without Increased federal aid. In 1935 and 1936
the Highway Commission still relied upon federal
help to provide two-thirds of the money It spent.

In 1940 the Commission reported an urgent
need for extensive primary road Improvements.
Since 1920 motor vehicle registration had In-
creased from 437,000 to 790,000. During this
same period the average cruising speed and mile-
age traveled had doubled. Buses and trucks pre-
sented problems In 1940 that had not existed In
1920. Curtaillment of railroad service left many

small towns entirely dependent upon highways to
meet their transportation needs. The Commission,

116
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therefore, proposed to spend at least $116,000,000
IN order to modernize the primary road system.

Before any action could be taken, World War
Il intervened, virtually halting all road construc-
tion. In the year ending June 30, 1945, less than
$600,000 was spent on primary road construction,
the smallest amount In the history of the system.
The normal maintenance force of 1,400 men was
reduced to 971 by June, 1945. Equipment which
would ordinarily be replaced had to be repaired
and used again. Some relief was gained through
the reduction of highway traffic by nearly one-half
during the war.

It took years following the war to reorganize
and equip the highly trained engineering and con-
struction forces built up in the 1930’s but scattered
by the war. Ciritical shortages of materials halted
construction for months at a time. The wartime
cut in construction left a surplus of almost $13,-
000,000 available for the primary roads, in addi-
tion to the annual income. At the same time, how-
ever, Inflation forced the costs of such items as
standard concrete pavement up from $1.95 per
square yard before the war to a peak of $4.23 In
1948. Maintenance costs rose from an average of
about $4,000,000 in 1940-1944 to nearly $7,000,-
000 In 1949, and yet the Commission admitted that
the general condition of the roads did not improve.

Road work was also delayed by arguments be-
tween supporters of the primary and secondary



118 THE PALIMPSEST

road systems. The fact that over 90 per cent of
the roads were secondary made it appear that they
should receive the most attention. In reply, pri-
mary road supporters pointed out that at least 60
per cent of the state's highway traffic was on the
primary roads. Unless the main highways were In
good condition, they argued, the side roads could
not adequately fulfill their chief function as pri-
mary road feeders.

During the 1920’s, as a result of the haste to
pave the primary roads, the complaint that not
enough was done on the secondary roads was jus-
tified. By 1929, however, Governor Hammill opti-
mistically declared, “We may now consider our
primary road problem solved and turn our undi-
vided attention to the solution of our secondary
road problem.” Whereas In 1929 less than half
the county trunk roads were surfaced, by 1939
fewer than 2,000 of the 13,800 miles of this group
were dirt roads. During the same decade surfaced
mileage on the old township roads quadrupled.

These gains were financed chiefly by local prop-
erty taxes, but the state came to play an increas-
Ingly important role. Beginning in 1923, when a
county’s primary roads had been improved, part of
Its share of primary road funds could be used on
Its secondary roads. Additional state aid was re-
celved after 1925 from gas tax proceeds.

In 1939, In order to obtain the aid which Con-
gress now furnished for secondary roads, the
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farm-to-market road system was created, consist-
Ing of 10 per cent of the most heavily traveled sec-
ondary roads. A special fund was established to
consist of all federal secondary road aid and, after
1940, all primary road fund receipts In excess of
$16,000,000. In 1941 the ceiling was raised to
$17,000,000. Postwar federal legislation In-
creased the farm-to-market system to 35,000 miles,
over a third of all secondary roads. These roads
remained part of the secondary road system, but In
order to obtain federal aid, the Highway Commis-
sion controlled the funds and supervised construc-
tion work.

After 1945 it became obvious that some changes
would have to be made Iin the method of road fi-
nancing. Ample funds were available to match
federal secondary road aid, but in 1947 it was nec-
essary to transfer $3,736,000 from other sources to
avold losing precious federal primary road subsi-
dies. By 1948 primary road fund receipts from
state sources alone were more than $29,000,000,
but about 40 per cent had to be diverted to the
farm-to-market roads. After July 1, 1948, the
fund was so low that the Commission could not let
any new contracts for primary road construction
during the remainder of the year.

In an effort to find a solution to these problems
the legislature In 1947 set up a road study com-
mittee of eight lawmakers and four private citi-
zens, with Senator Jans T. Dykhouse of Rock
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Rapids as chairman. The committee was ordered
to submit a plan to the next General Assembly for
obtaining a balanced program of primary and sec-
ondary road improvement.

Late In 1948 the committee recommended a
twenty-year, pay-as-you-go program which, at ex-
Isting prices, would cost almost a billion dollars.
Of this amount, $482,000,000 would be required
to pave the 2,200 miles of graveled or unsurfaced
primary roads and to widen and rebuild the re-
maining mileage. The rest would be spent on sec-
ondary roads with the object to provide every
reasonably located farmhouse with a surfaced
road outlet, and reduce maintenance costs by re-
surfacing wherever necessary.

To raise the additional $14,211,000 required an-
nually to finance this program, motor vehicle reg-
Istration fees would be iIncreased and taxes al-
ready collected from highway users but not used
for highway work would be added to the road rev-
enues. All road taxes collected by the state would
be placed In a single fund to be divided on the ba-
sis of 48.5 per cent for primary roads, 6.5 per cent
for municipal streets, and the remainder for sec-
ondary roads.

With the earnest support of Governor William
S. Beardsley, who had been a legislative member
of the study committee, and the newly formed
Good Roads Association, this twenty-year pro-
gram was adopted in 1949 with few changes. One
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Important revision allotted only 42 per cent of the
proceeds of the new Road Use Tax Fund to the
primary roads, instead of the amount asked for by
the Dykhouse committee. Farm-to-market roads
received 15 per cent and other secondary roads 35
per cent, 5 per cent more than suggested. Despite
these changes, the new law iIncreased primary
road funds from the limit of $17,000,000 in 949
to $27,400,000 in 1950.

The new program was well received. The Des
Moines Register asserted: “We can now begin to
recover from the long period of stagnation in high-
way Improvement In this state.” Claud Coyken-
dall of the Good Roads Association, who had
written the report of the Dykhouse committee, de-
clared that the 1949 General Assembly “had to Its
credit more sound, constructive highway legisla-
tion than had ever been enacted by a single session
of the lowa legislature.” As a result, Governor
Beardsley said, lowa was now “at the head of
states In highway modernization.*

Progress on secondary road work from 1948 to
1953 proceeded at a rate which, If continued,
would provide all-weather surfaced roads to every
rural home five years earlier than scheduled. Com-
pletion of the farm-to-market system seemed prob-
able before 1960. Nearly three-quarters of the
secondary road system were surfaced by 1954,

Primary road work, however, was far less satis-
factory. By 1954, when work should have been
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one-fourth completed, actually only about 12 per
cent of the primary road program was finished.
By 1954 about $130,000,000 had been spent for
primary road construction, yet It was estimated
that $767,000,000 would be needed to complete
the work. The 1949 program had counted on a 33
per cent traffic increase by 1960, whereas In reality
traffic iIn 1954 was already 38 per cent heavier
than 1t had been five years earlier. The task of
estimating future road needs, W. Earl Hall, Ma-
son City editor, observed early in 1955, 4calls for
an Imagination that just doesn't seem to be present
In the human animal."

No matter what happens in 1955, however, the
road problem will continue. Discussions regarding
ten or twenty-year road programs are deceiving If
they imply that the road problem will be at an end
when these programs are completed. Pavements
wear out and future road needs are unpredictable.
The dilemma of the road maker was clearly stated
by Fred R. White In 1920 at the start of the cam-
paign to pave the primary roads. "'By the time we
get those roads paved,” he forecast, '‘the first of
them will be worn out and ready to start again.
So let's go Into It with our eyes open that we are
starting something we will never finish."" Much
has changed since 1920, but time and experience
have proved the wisdom of White's advice.

G eorge S. M ay



An lowa Road Challenge

lowa’s road problems continued to mount as
auto registrations and travel on lowa’s highways
continued to climb following 1955. The changing
pattern of the State’s economic activity began to
put new stresses on the primary highways and ur-
ban areas of lowa. Despite the progress of the
previous decade, secondary road problems were
not solved In all areas of the Hawkeye State.

By 1958, the decline in the number of farms, In-
creased bus transportation resulting from school
reorganization, growth in travel on major state pri-
mary routes, and mounting traffic control problems
In lowa s principal cities pointed to the necessity
of a highway study of the State’s road systems.

These facts were presented to the General As-
sembly.

In House Joint Resolution 12, the 58th General
Assembly of lowa authorized the creation of a
Road Study Committee. Senator D. C. Nolan of
lowa City served as Chairman of the lowa High-
way Study Committee with Representative Merle
Hagedorn of Clay County as Vice-Chairman.
The Committee included four additional lawmak-
ers and five citizens representing counties, cities,
and State, thus adding balance to the group.
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The Road Study Committee and the lowa State
Highway Commission entered Iinto an agreement
with two non-profit research agencies for techni-
cal services In carrying out the assignment of the
committee. Selected were the Automotive Safety
Foundation of Washington, D. C., for engi-
neering or physical needs study, and the Public
Administration Service of Chicago, lllinois, for the
fiscal studies.

The study urged the adoption of a system of
classification for lowa’s highways, roads, and city
streets based on their function, construction stan-
dards required, and travel. The definition of sys-
tem — the application of construction standards to
the defined system, and a program to provide con-
tinuity of finance — was recommended as basic
for the solution of lowa’s road problems.

Described as a “plan to pace highway develop-
ment with economic growth” the study held out
real possibilities as a sound basis for highway pro-
graming, construction, and financing. The study
was based on engineering analysis of existing sta-
tus of roads and streets compared to standards of
design and maintenance required for future traffic.
It resulted In projections of past trends to 1980
and these Indicated a population gain of 400,000,
all In cities, with a statewide total of 3,150,000
people. A 40 percent Increase in the number of
motor vehicles to 1,800,000 and a 70 percent In-
crease In total travel to 20 billion vehicle miles an-
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nually were forecast to indicate the magnitude of
the road challenge facing the State of lowa.

The study showed that needs included 5,600
miles of rural two-lane state primary roads that
would require construction or reconstruction be-
tween 1960 and 1980. In additon, 1,500 miles of
multi-lane highways would be needed prior to
1980 of which all but 213 miles would be Interstate
and other lowa freeways. The rural freeways, In-
cluding Interstate, would cost $167 million in this
1960 estimate which was about 55 percent of all
basic construction on rural primary roads.

The study stated flatly that about one-third of
the proposed rural Primary Road System was now
Intolerable with the cost to iImprove this backlog
estimated In 1960 to be $373 million. The costs of
Improving primary system in municipalities was es-
timated at $144 million. Some 63 percent of all
travel was on rural and urban state primary high-
ways, 19 percent on other urban streets, and 18
percent on secondary roads. Backlog data for the
other systems showed 70 percent of county trunk
mileage as Intolerable with a construction cost of
$340 million while city arterial streets had 32 per-
cent of the mileage intolerable at a cost of $126
million. Both rural and urban local roads and
streets had high percents of intolerable mileage.
The total program ran to almost $5.6 billion. Even
this amount was considered by the project engi-
neer for the Automotive Safety Foundation to be
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an absolute minimum. Little secret was made of
the fact that $250 million of shoulder surfacing
work was cut from the study report engineering
needs before the final program was presented.

The single most important problem presented by
the study was the problem of financing these mini-
mum needs. Lack of sufficient funds to do the job
and a method of financing to accomplish the pro-
gram still plagued the legislature and the people.

The 59th General Assembly, In session In 196L
was faced with this problem but came to grips with
reality as the members became embroiled In one of
the basic problems confronting road needs — the
redistribution of state road use tax funds between
the governmental jurisdictions. Even though the
basic problem was one of insufficient funds no leg-
Islative attempt was made In 1961 to solve this
problem.

The effort made In the studies to determine an
equitable distribution of road use tax funds be-
tween the governmental jurisdictions indicated the
cities and towns were entitled to a larger share of
road use tax funds as were the state primary
roads. The cities accordingly organized to I
prove their situation and were given cooperation
by the Chambers of Commerce. Park Rinard was
employed to carry through their program — a
“fight for fair fifteen.” This slogan was the result
of the recommendation of 15 percent of road use
tax funds for cities and towns. The study had
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recommended a distribution of 55 percent to state
primary roads and 30 percent to county secondary
roads. In addition to these percentages, however,
cities would require additional property taxes of
$1.3 million annually and counties would require
additional property taxes of $2.1 million annually
plus an appropriation from the state general fund
for secondary roads to accomplish their road pro-
grams. Property taxes were already at high levels
and were unpopular as a revenue raising measure.
Meanwhile, the pressing needs of education indi-
cated demands from the general fund source
would be heavy for the 1960-1970 decade and
very probably the following decade In the studies
twenty-year road program period.

The lowa Good Roads Association favored
continuance of the existing highway finance pol-
iIcy of the State which relied on road use tax fund
sources and property taxes. It considered the gen-
eral fund financing recommendations too remote
and unrealistic In the light of the State’s total fi-
nancing needs. The Assocliation recommended an
Increase In the gasoline tax of one cent In 1961 as
one source of additional needed revenue and has
stuck with this proposal. Other recommendations
of the Association included increases In commer-
cial vehicle and automobile registration fees. Per-
haps recognition of political reality or a recognition
that general fund financing was practicable and
would become necessary In the future prompted
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the Good Roads Association to include a recom-
mendation for an appropriation of $10 million an-
nually from the state general fund. An alternative,
the Association declared, would be an increase of
two cents In the state gasoline tax. The Associa-
tion’s proposals certainly emphasized the shortage
of funds and the magnitude of the problem.

In 1964 the Association alerted the General As-
sembly and the people to the growing backlog of
state primary road work. It pointed out that the
deficit (in excess of $20 million annually) was
even greater for their proposed program than the
Association had been indicating. This disconcert-
Ing fact started a reappraisal by the Good Roads
Assocliation. Mark Morris, consultant and re-
search engineer, was added to the staff. The plan
was to take the basic data of the studies, the ex-
perience of the previous four years, and to make
new projections of Income and expenditures re-
guired to accomplish the road program. The evi-
dence continued to mount conclusively that the on-
ly answer was more money, and soon, If the lowa
road challenge was to be met.

Governor Harold E. Hughes recognized the
seriousness of the challenge and emphasized the
Importance of providing additional funds for state
primary roads by calling for a one cent increase In
the gasoline tax In his 1965 inaugural address and

In his budget message to the legislature.
R. G. Hileman
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